FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/10/2023 1:12 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102258-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 56950-7

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARTY MOORE, as personal representative of the estate of Rebecca Moore,

Appellant,

v.

FRED MEYER STORES, INC.; FRED MEYER, INC.; and THE KROGER CO.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Charles A. Willmes, WSBA No. 23216 JENSEN MORSE BAKER PLLC 1809 Seventh Ave, Suite 410 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 682-1550 Michael B. King, WSBA No. 14405

Jason W. Anderson, WSBA No.

30512

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Fred Meyer Stores, Inc., Fred Meyer, Inc., and The Kroger Co. (collectively, "Fred Meyer"), Respondents in the Court of Appeals, seek review of the decision identified in part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of Division Two's published decision (1) reversing the judgment on the jury's verdict; (2) invalidating our state's principal pattern jury instruction on premises liability, which is based on *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 343; (3) holding that courts must instruct on the *Pimentel*¹ foreseeability theory of notice in every case, even absent evidence to support it; and (4) remanding for a new trial. A copy of the order publishing the decision, dated July 11, 2023, is attached as Appendix A. A copy of the decision, dated May 2, 2023, is attached as Appendix B.

¹ Pimentel v. Roundup Co., 100 Wn.2d 39, 666 P.2d 888 (1983).

III. INTRODUCTION

To prove that a possessor breached a duty to exercise reasonable care to remedy an unsafe condition, a premisesliability plaintiff must establish that the possessor had notice of the condition and a reasonable opportunity to remedy it. Under the *Pimentel* exception, a plaintiff may establish notice based on reasonable foreseeability. But this theory requires substantial evidence that the condition was reasonably foreseeable from the business's nature and methods of operation. For instance, in Wiltse v. Albertson's, Inc., 116 Wn.2d 452, 805 P.2d 793 (1991), the trial court refused to instruct on foreseeability absent a factual basis to find that the water on which the plaintiff slipped was reasonably foreseeable. *Id.* at 453–56. This Court affirmed the judgment on the defense verdict. Id. at 462.

Similarly, here, Plaintiff² presented no evidence raising a fact issue on foreseeability at trial. Rebecca Moore slipped and fell on a wet spot on the floor of a dry-goods (coffee and cereal) aisle in a Fred Meyer store. But no evidence identified the source of the moisture or connected it to the nature of Fred Meyer's business or its methods of operation. So, consistent with *Wiltse*, the trial court properly gave the general pattern jury instruction on premises liability, which includes actual and constructive notice but not foreseeability. And the jury returned a verdict for Fred Meyer.

Division Two of the Court of Appeals reversed the judgment on the jury's verdict in a published decision. It concluded that, under *Johnson v. Liquor & Cannabis Board*, 197 Wn.2d 605, 486 P.3d 125 (2021)—and contrary to *Wiltse*—a trial court must instruct the jury on a foreseeability theory of

² Unrelated to the incident, Ms. Moore died from cancer a few months before trial. Her estate's personal representative, Marty Moore, substituted as the plaintiff and was the appellant in the Court of Appeals. *See* CP 14–15.

notice in *every* premises-liability case—even if no substantial evidence supports it. Division Two thus concluded that the general pattern jury instruction on premises liability misstates the law and must be revised.

Division Two's holding conflicts with *Johnson* and *Wiltse*. Worse, it also conflicts with this Court's many decisions where it has explicitly held that instructing on a theory unsupported by substantial evidence is prejudicial error. *E.g.*, *Reynolds v. Phare*, 58 Wn.2d 904, 905, 365 P.2d 328 (1961). Review is thus warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

But Division Two did not stop there. It went a step further and presumed to declare how a jury should be instructed on premises liability generally. Not only did Division Two misstate notice law, consistent with its misreading of *Johnson*, but it also omitted an essential requirement for liability—a reasonable opportunity to exercise reasonable care to remedy an unsafe condition, absent which there can be no negligence. This

RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 4

omission conflicts with *Johnson*, *Wiltse*, and many other precedents, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Review is also warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the proper premises-liability instruction is an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine. This Court should grant review to clarify that courts should not instruct on a foreseeability theory of notice unless substantial evidence supports it and, if so, then the plaintiff must prove that the specific unsafe condition was reasonably foreseeable where the incident occurred because of the business's nature and methods of operation.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Under Wiltse and Reynolds, a plaintiff is entitled to an instruction on a foreseeability theory of notice only if substantial evidence supports it. This Court did not overrule Wiltse or Reynolds in Johnson. Does Division Two's holding that a trial court must instruct on foreseeability in every case conflict with Johnson, Wiltse, Reynolds, and other precedents?
- 2. Under *Johnson*, *Wiltse*, and other precedents, a possessor is entitled to a reasonable opportunity to remedy an unsafe condition. In declaring how juries should be instructed on premises liability, Division Two omitted this requirement.

Does Division Two's articulation of premises-liability law conflict with *Johnson*, *Wiltse*, and other precedents?

3. Washington has never had a pattern jury instruction on the foreseeability exception to the notice requirement for premises liability. But Division Two concluded that the general pattern jury instruction on premises liability must be revised to include it. Is the proper premises-liability instruction an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine?

v. FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION

For this petition, Fred Meyer adopts the statement of facts in Division Two's published decision.

VI. REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. The *Pimentel* foreseeability exception to the notice requirement for premises liability applies if substantial evidence shows that the specific unsafe condition was reasonably foreseeable where the incident occurred because of the business's nature and methods of operation.

Under traditional premises-liability law, a possessor may be liable to an invitee injured because of an unsafe condition only if the possessor (1) had actual or constructive notice of the condition and (2) failed to exercise reasonable care to prevent harm. *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 612 (citing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 343 (1965)). Constructive notice arises if

the possessor "by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition." *Id.* at 612–13 (quoting RESTATEMENT § 343).

This Court adopted a limited exception to the notice requirement for premises liability in *Pimentel v. Roundup Co.*, 100 Wn.2d 39, 666 P.2d 888 (1983). It held that notice may be established by showing that "the nature of the proprietor's business and his methods of operation are such that the existence of unsafe conditions on the premises is reasonably foreseeable." *Id.* at 49.³ The *Pimentel* exception (or foreseeability exception) essentially provides a way to prove constructive notice.

This Court first applied the foreseeability exception to unsafe conditions arising in a store's self-service areas because "certain departments of a store, such as the produce department, were areas where hazards were apparent and therefore the owner was placed on notice by the activity." *Wiltse*, 116 Wn.2d at 461.

³ This Court added: "The exception...does not shift the burden to the defendant to disprove negligence. The plaintiff must still prove that defendant failed to take reasonable care to prevent the injury." *Pimentel*, 100 Wn.2d at 49.

Even in that limited context, the exception did not apply to every unsafe condition that arose in a self-service area. To invoke the exception, a plaintiff had to present evidence that the specific "unsafe condition causing the injury '[was] continuous or foreseeably inherent in the nature of the business or mode of operation." *Ingersoll v. DeBartolo, Inc.*, 123 Wn.2d 649, 653–54, 869 P.2d 1014 (1994) (quoting *Wiltse*, 116 Wn.2d at 461).

This Court later expanded the foreseeability exception in *Johnson*. It did so because it concluded that self-service is not the only aspect of a store's operations that may make an unsafe condition reasonably foreseeable. *See Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 614–18. The plaintiff in *Johnson* slipped and fell just inside a store entrance on a rainy day. *Id.* at 608. Even though the entrance was not a self-service area, this Court held that the foreseeability exception applied because "customers tracking water in through the entry way of a business where they are meant to enter... is inherent in a store's mode of operation." *Id.* at 621 (emphasis removed).

- B. Division Two's published decision on the foreseeability exception conflicts with this Court's decisions, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).
 - 1. Division Two's holding that every plaintiff is entitled to an instruction on a foreseeability theory of notice—even absent evidence to support it—conflicts with Johnson v. Liquor & Cannabis Board, Wiltse v. Albertson's Inc., Reynolds v. Phare, and many other decisions.

Per this Court, a plaintiff is not entitled to an instruction on a foreseeability theory of notice absent evidence connecting the unsafe condition to the business's nature and methods of operation. *See Wiltse*, 116 Wn.2d at 458–61. Instructing on a theory unsupported by substantial evidence is prejudicial error. *Reynolds*, 58 Wn.2d at 905.

Wiltse controls this issue. The plaintiff in Wiltse slipped on a puddle of water. Wiltse, 116 Wn.2d at 453–56. But the water was there not because of the nature of the store's business and methods of operation, but because of a leaky roof. *Id.* The trial court thus refused to instruct on the foreseeability exception. *Id.* Affirming the judgment on a defense verdict, this Court noted that the exception is limited "to specific unsafe conditions that

are continuous or foreseeably inherent in the nature of the business or mode of operation." *Id.* at 461. It further noted that "the actual cause of the hazard is relevant in establishing whether the unreasonably dangerous condition was continuous or reasonably foreseeable." *Id.* Because no evidence suggested that the business's nature and methods of operation caused the leaky roof, this Court held that there was "no factual basis for the court to give a *Pimentel* instruction." *Id.* at 462.

Far from overruling or modifying *Wiltse* in *Johnson*, this Court reaffirmed it. This Court did not modify existing law but only confirmed that "[t]he self-service requirement of the exception no longer applies." *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 618. It thus held that the foreseeability exception is now "a general rule that an invitee may prove notice with evidence that the 'nature of the proprietor's business and his methods of operation are such that the existence of unsafe conditions on the premises is reasonably foreseeable." *Id.* at 618 (quoting *Pimentel*, 100 Wn.2d at 49). This Court did not hold that a plaintiff is entitled

to an instruction on this theory of notice absent evidence to support it.

Division Two recognized that *Johnson* "reaffirm[ed]...the holding in *Wiltse*." *Slip Op.* at 9. Yet it erroneously interpreted *Johnson* as holding—contrary to *Wiltse*—that a trial court must instruct on the foreseeability exception in every case, even absent evidence of foreseeability. *Slip Op.* at 9 n.4. Division Two reasoned that, under *Johnson*, raising a jury question on notice of *any* kind entitles a plaintiff to an instruction on actual notice, constructive notice, *and* foreseeability:

[T]he opinion [in *Johnson*] suggests that, if the plaintiff has presented sufficient evidence to have the case decided by a jury, then all three alternatives of actual notice, constructive notice, and reasonable foreseeability should be given equal consideration. ... Here, because there was sufficient evidence for the case to go to the jury, consistent with *Johnson's* analysis of reasonable foreseeability, the jury should have given equal consideration to actual notice, constructive notice, and reasonable foreseeability.

Id.

Division Two evidently concluded that Plaintiff somehow raised a jury question on actual or constructive notice, entitling

him to an instruction on foreseeability. *See id.* It thus **did** not reach whether Plaintiff presented substantial evidence of foreseeability (*see id.*)—which he **did** not. *See Br. of Respondents* at 31–32.

Division Two got it wrong. After *Johnson*, instructing on a foreseeability theory of notice remains appropriate only if substantial evidence supports it. In characterizing the foreseeability exception as a "general rule," Johnson, 197 Wn.2d at 618, this Court was merely describing its application beyond the self-service context. See id. at 614 ("The foreseeability exception to the notice requirement applies beyond the selfservice context."). This Court did not otherwise modify the exception or suggest that foreseeability is a viable theory of notice in every case. The theory was in play in *Johnson* only because substantial evidence supported an inference that the specific unsafe condition was reasonably foreseeable customers entering the liquor store on rainy days was inherent in its business, and uncontroverted testimony established that

""[r]ainy days always bring muddy footprints' into the entry of the store." *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 620–21.

Where, instead, evidence of foreseeability is missing, an instruction on the theory is ruled out. *See Wiltse*, 116 Wn.2d at 454–55. Not only that, but if a plaintiff cannot otherwise establish notice, the negligence claim must be dismissed as a matter of law. *Ingersoll*, 123 Wn.2d at 654–56 (affirming summary judgment for shopping mall absent evidence of actual or constructive notice or connecting slippery substance on floor to mall's mode of operation).⁴

Division Two's decision conflicts with *Johnson*, *Wiltse*, *Reynolds*, and many other decisions concerning notice, and review is warranted to resolve those conflicts.

⁴ See also Arment v. Kmart Corp., 79 Wn. App. 694, 902 P.2d 1254 (1995) (affirming summary judgment for store absent evidence connecting liquid on floor in clothing section with store's mode of operation); Carlyle v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 78 Wn. App. 272, 896 P.2d 750 (1995) (affirming summary judgment for store absent evidence connecting shampoo on floor in coffee aisle with store's mode of operation).

2. Notice alone does not establish negligence. Division Two's articulation of how a jury should be instructed on premises liability conflicts with basic negligence law under *Johnson*, *Wiltse*, and many other precedents by omitting a reasonable time to remedy the unsafe condition.

Proof of notice does not itself establish negligence. More is required because, absent an opportunity to exercise reasonable care, no breach of duty occurs. *Gordon v. Deer Park Sch. Dist.*No. 414, 71 Wn.2d 119, 122, 426 P.2d 824 (1967). Once a possessor has notice of an unsafe condition, the possessor is entitled to a reasonable opportunity to exercise reasonable care to eliminate the condition before a breach of duty occurs. *Wiltse*, 116 Wn.2d at 457–58, 461–62; see also 6 WASH. PRAC., WASH. PATTERN JURY INSTR. CIV. WPI 120.06.02 (7th ed. 2019) (explaining that a duty arises only after the possessor has notice of the condition). This is basic negligence law.

This Court has consistently recognized this principle in its premises-liability decisions. For instance, in *Wiltse*, this Court held that a proprietor must remedy an unsafe condition "[o]nce discovered." Wiltse, 116 Wn.2d at 461 (emphasis added). This

Court observed that a proprietor would not be negligent "[i]f a customer had knocked over merchandise in the aisle and the next customer had immediately tripped over that merchandise[.]" *Id.* at 461–62. "[T]he storekeeper is allowed a reasonable time, under the circumstances, to discover *and correct* the condition[.]" *Id.* at 453–54 (emphasis added).⁵

This Court made clear in *Johnson* that the same rule applies if the plaintiff advances a foreseeability theory of notice: "There must be evidence of actual or constructive notice *or* foreseeability, and a reasonable time to alleviate the situation." *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 617 (quoting *Mucsi v. Graoch Assocs*.

⁵ Accord Kerr v. City of Salt Lake, 322 P.3d 669, 679 (Utah 2013) ("In the case of either actual knowledge or constructive knowledge, the plaintiff must also show that the defendant had sufficient notice of the unsafe condition 'that in the exercise of reasonable care [the defendant] should have remedied it.""). This Court applies the same principle in the analogous context of municipal liability for an unsafe roadway, requiring evidence of "(a) notice of a dangerous condition..., and (b) a reasonable opportunity to correct it before liability arises for negligence from neglect of duty to keep the streets safe." Niebarger v. City of Seattle, 53 Wn.2d 228, 229, 332 P.2d 463 (1958).

Ltd. P-ship No. 12, 144 Wn.2d 847, 863, 31 P.3d 684 (2001)) (emphasis supplemented). The plaintiff must thus establish that the condition "existed for such time as would have afforded [the proprietor] sufficient opportunity, in the exercise of ordinary care, ... to have removed the danger." Johnson, 197 Wn.2d at 612 (quoting Ingersoll, 123 Wn.2d at 652 (quoting Smith v. Manning's, Inc., 13 Wn.2d 573, 580, 126 P.2d 44 (1942)) (emphasis added).

Division Two presumed to declare how a jury should be instructed on premises-liability law, based on its misinterpretation of the principles set forth in *Johnson*. *Slip Op*. at 8–9. But it omitted the essential requirement—also set forth in *Johnson*—of a reasonable opportunity to remedy the unsafe

condition. *See id.*⁶ This Court should accept review to resolve this conflict with *Johnson*, *Wiltse*, and other decisions and clarify how juries should be instructed on premises-liability law.

C. The proper jury instruction on premises liability is an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Premises-liability cases are among the most common types of civil litigation. And premises-liability law applies not only to slip-and-fall accidents in stores but to all manner of accidents on public and private property. This Court has not hesitated to review premises-liability cases where appropriate to develop and clarify the law in this important, frequently litigated area. Review is warranted because Division Two's conclusion that the general pattern jury instruction on premises liability must

⁶ Division Two's omission was seemingly intentional. It modified its quotation of *Johnson* to replace the words "and a reasonable time to alleviate the situation" with an ellipsis: "The *Johnson* court endorsed *Mucsi*'s statement that '[t]here must be evidence of actual or constructive notice *or foreseeability*...." *Slip Op.* at 7 (quoting *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 617 (quoting *Mucsi*, 144 Wn.2d at 863)) (bold-underline added)).

be revised. The proper jury instruction on premises-liability law is an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. Division Two misread Johnson in concluding that the general pattern jury instruction on premises liability must be revised to include the foreseeability exception in all cases.

Washington has never had a pattern jury instruction on the foreseeability exception. Division Two concluded that, given *Johnson*, the general pattern jury instruction on premises liability, WPI 120.07, must be revised to include the exception. That instruction is based on *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 343. *Compare* WPI 120.07, *with* RESTATEMENT § 343 (1965). It does not mention foreseeability. It states:

An [owner of premises] [occupier of premises] [operator] is liable for any [physical] injuries to its [business invitees] [public invitees] [customers] caused by a condition on the premises if the [owner] [occupier] [operator]:

(a) knows of the condition or fails to exercise ordinary care to discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such [business invitees] [public invitees] [customers];

- (b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it; and
- (c) fails to exercise ordinary care to protect them against the danger, and
- (d) the dangerous condition is within those portions of the premises that the invitee is expressly or impliedly invited to use or might reasonably be expected to use.

WPI 120.07; see CP 728.

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