FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/15/2023 12:11 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1022581

Court of Appeals No. 56950-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARTY MOORE, as personal representative of the estate of Rebecca Moore.

Respondent,

٧.

FRED MEYER STORES, INC.: FRED MEYER, INC.; and THE KROGER CO.,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362
Office: 241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

- (b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it; and
- (c) fails to exercise ordinary care to protect them against the danger; and
- (d) the dangerous condition is within those portions of the premises that the invitee is expressly or impliedly invited to use or might reasonably be expected to use. [Emphasis added in *Moore*,]

See CP 124. The Estate proposed largely the same pattern instruction, but with a different section (a) designed to conform to this Court's decision in **Johnson** (App. A at *4):

(a) the nature of the proprietor's business and its methods of operation are such that the existence of unsafe conditions on the premises is reasonably foreseeable;

See CP 155. As this Court is no doubt aware, its own Pattern Instruction Committee had not yet conformed WPIC 120.07 (7th Ed. 2019) to its 2021 decision in *Johnson*. Indeed, while the undersigned understands that a revision is pending, this WPIC still has not been conformed to *Johnson*. See also infra, § B (re: email from Chair Halpert attached as Appendix B).

The Court of Appeals thus reversed because the trial court's Instruction No. 14 misstated the law under Johnson. App. A at *1. Specifically, Johnson established reasonable foreseeability "as equal to traditional notice requirements," so "whether it applies is fundamentally a question of fact for the jury." *Id.* at *10. Thus, the limitation of Inst. 14 (and WPIC 120.07) solely to traditional (actual and constructive) notice requirements directly contradicts **Johnson**'s holding "that upon remand the trial court must equally consider foreseeability of the condition as it would actual or constructive notice." *Id.* at *8 (quoting *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 617 (following Mucsi v. Graoch Assocs. Ltd. P'ship No. 12., 144 Wn.2d 847, 863, 31 P.3d 864 (2001))). *Moore* is thus consistent with *Johnson*.

The *Moore* court also remanded "because there was sufficient evidence for the case to go to the jury consistent with *Johnson*'s analysis of reasonable foreseeability." App. A at *11 n.4.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. The *Moore* decision simply follows this Court's *Johnson* decision – the most recent controlling authority on point – so it cannot and does not conflict with this Court's relevant decisions.

As the *Moore* decision expressly recognized, *Johnson* carefully analyzed and explained the evolution of Washington law regarding notice of a dangerous condition on business premises. App. A at *5-*9. Traditional standards of premises liability required actual or constructive notice to the owner. *Id.* at *5 (citing *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 612; *Ingersoll v. DeBartolo, Inc.*, 123 Wn.2d 649, 652, 869 P.2d 1014 (1994)). But this Court established a self-service exception to the traditional notice requirements in *Pimentel v. Roundup Co.*, 100 Wn.2d 39, 666 P.2d 888 (1983) – which involved a Fred Meyer store. *Id.* at *6-*7

Plaintiff Pimentel was shopping at Fred Meyer when a paint can fell on her foot. *Pimentel*, 100 Wn.2d. at 40-41. Before it fell, the can was overhanging the shelf. *Id.* at 41.

Under instructions that Pimentel must show Fred Meyer's actual or constructive notice of an unreasonably dangerous condition, the jury returned a defense verdict for Fred Meyer. *Id.* at 42. But this Court reversed. *Id.* at 40.

This Court eliminated the traditional notice requirements where, as here, "the nature of [Fred Meyer's] business and [its] methods of operation are such that the existence of unsafe conditions on the premises is reasonably foreseeable." Id. at 49. Pimentel held that when an invitee is injured at a self-service business (like Fred Meyer) the traditional notice requirement is eliminated because the nature of the proprietor's business and its methods of operation make the existence of unsafe conditions on its premises reasonably foreseeable. App. A at *6-*7 (cleaned up) (quoting **Johnson**, 197 Wn.2d at 613 (quoting *Pimentel*, 100 Wn.2d at 49)).

Johnson held that the former **Pimentel** reasonable foreseeability *exception* has since become a "general rule

that an invitee may prove notice with evidence that the 'nature of the proprietor's business and his methods of operation are such that the existence of unsafe conditions on the premises is reasonably foreseeable." 197 Wn.2d at 618 (quoting *Pimentel*, 100 Wn.2d at 49). This is because cases like *Wiltse*¹ and *Ingersoll* did not foreclose an expansion of *Pimentel*'s reasonable foreseeability exception, and subsequent cases *did* expand it. *Id*. at 615-18 (citing *Mucsi*, 144 Wn.2d at 863; *Iwai v. State*, 129 Wn.2d 84, 100, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996)).

Johnson thus harmonized all relevant Washington precedents on this issue, so the "self-service requirement of the exception no longer applies." *Id.* at 618. Since this Court expressly eliminated the "self-service requirement" that had limited *Pimentel*'s reasonable foreseeability exception, slips and falls are now reasonably foreseeable

¹ *Wiltse v. Albertson's, Inc.*, 116 Wn.2d 452, 805 P.2d 793 (1991).

throughout Fred Meyer stores. Otherwise, the holdings in **Johnson**, **Iwai**, **Mucsi**, and even **Pimentel** itself would be inapplicable to their own facts.

That is, a Fred Meyer customer (a/k/a business invitee) now may show that proprietor Fred Meyer had notice because the nature of its business and its methods of operation make such unsafe conditions on its premises reasonably foreseeable. In light of the overwhelming evidence that Fred Meyer actually knows slip-and-falls due to unsafe conditions on its floors are dangerously common throughout their stores, ample evidence warrants instructing the jury on this theory, as the *Moore* court held. App. A at *11 n.4; see also, e.g., BA 5-6 (Fred Meyer is well aware that *many* people slip and fall throughout its stores); Exs 4 & 5. In sum, *Moore* correctly holds that *Johnson* established reasonable foreseeability "as equal to traditional notice requirements," so "whether it applies is fundamentally a question of fact for the jury." App. A at *9.

1. *Moore* is consistent with *Johnson*, *Wiltse, Reynolds*, and every other relevant opinion.

While Fred Meyer concedes much of the above analysis – as it must – it nonetheless claims that *Johnson* "expanded" the "foreseeability exception." PFR 6-8. It was *Musci* and *Iwai* that expanded the exception. *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 615-18. *Johnson* held that the "self-service requirement of the exception **no longer applies**." *Id.* at 618 (bold added). Reasonable foreseeability is now a general rule, yet the trial court refused to so instruct the jury.

Fred Meyer also argues that *Moore* conflicts with *Johnson*, *Wiltse*, and *Reynolds*.² PFR 9-13. As for *Johnson*, *Moore* expressly and precisely follows this Court's controlling precedent, as explained *supra*. Fred Meyer simply ignores this obvious fact.

² **Reynolds v. Phare**, 58 Wn.2d 904, 365 P.2d 328 (1961).

2. Ample evidence supports instructing the jury regarding reasonable foreseeability, as *Moore* correctly held.

Fred Meyer says that the Estate failed to put on evidence supporting the reasonable foreseeability instruction – which Fred Meyer tacitly concedes is a correct instruction where the evidence justifies it. *Id.* Its substantial evidence argument is wrong for at least three reasons.

First, Fred Meyer is paradigmatic of self-service operations in which hazards like water and falling objects are reasonably foreseeable. See generally Pimentel (where Fred Meyer's self-service operation justified adopting an exception to the traditional notice requirements). If Fred Meyer's operations do not justify giving a reasonable foreseeability instruction, nothing will.

Second, as the Court of Appeals held, there was *at least* "sufficient evidence for [this] case to go to the jury consistent with *Johnson*'s analysis of reasonable foreseeability." App. A at *11 n.4. Indeed, Fred Meyer's

self-service operation was extensively discussed at trial.³
This evidence would have – and should have – justified giving a reasonable foreseeability instruction.

Third, Fred Meyer's sufficiency argument is a logical fallacy: affirming the consequent. That is, Fred Meyer successfully persuaded the trial court not to give the reasonable foreseeability instruction, so while substantial evidence was presented (*supra* n.2), much more could have and would have been presented but for the trial court's failure to properly instruct the jury under *Johnson*.

The *Moore* decision does not conflict with *Wiltse* or *Reynolds*, much less with *Johnson*. Fred Meyer is thus wrong to say that *Moore* required the reasonable foreseeability instruction "in every case." PFR 11. *Moore* requires it only where, as here, the evidence calls for it.

³ See, e.g., BR at 6-8 (and RP cited therein); BA 5-6 (and RP cited therein); RP 97-123, 129-138, 143, 148-53, 160-63, 167-68, 219-28, 231-34, 240-41, 244-46.

3. Fred Meyer's new fact-based instructional claim is both unpreserved and incorrect.

Fred Meyer also argues⁴ that "notice does not itself establish negligence." PFR 14-17. Of course not. But this Court will search in vain for anywhere in this record, in the appellate briefing, or in the *Moore* decision, where Fred Meyer raised this argument. That is because *no one* argued that Fred Meyer is *not* entitled to a reasonable opportunity to correct an unsafe condition. Nor did the jury instructions – taken as a whole – "omit" this issue.

This argument was waived when Fred Meyer failed to object to the instruction – indeed, *proposed essentially* the same instruction on this issue – in the trial court, so it

⁴ While Fred Meyer cites two Court of Appeals decisions (PFR 13 n.4) it does not raise any argument under RAP 13.4(b)(2). This is significant: since **Moore** follows **Johnson**, it **cannot** "conflict with" other Court of Appeals decisions in any meaningful way. Rather, **Johnson** changed the law – or confirmed a change this Court had already made – so "conflicting" Court of Appeals decisions are not good law. Fred Meyer thus tacitly concedes that no Court of Appeals decisions can or do conflict with **Moore**.

cannot be raised here for the first time. See, e.g., RAPs 2.5(a) & 13.7; LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., **LLC**, 181 Wn.2d 117, 126, 330 P.3d 190 (2014) (Court will not consider issues first raised on appeal); Young v. Grp. Health Coop., 85 Wn.2d 332, 339-40, 534 P.2d 1349 (1976) (Court will not consider instructional error first raised on appeal); Bich v. GE Co., 27 Wn. App. 25, 35-36, 614 P.2d 1323 (1980) (same for Court of Appeals). Indeed, this Court very recently carefully explained the importance of refusing to consider new factually based legal claims that were not first raised in the trial court. **Dalton M. v. No.** Cascade Tr. Servs., Inc., 2023 Wash. LEXIS 1 at *14-*23 (Aug. 31, 2023). This new fact-based issue is not properly before this Court.

Not only is this an improper new argument, but it was not raised below because this issue was covered by another jury instruction, which Fred Meyer never challenged: while Fred Meyer claims that "Division Two"

"omitted" this "essential requirement" (PFR 16), a different instruction not addressed by Fred Meyer or the appellate court instructed the jury on this issue. See CP 727 (Court's Inst. 13, attached as Appendix C) (emphasis added):

An owner of premises has a duty to correct a temporary unsafe condition of the premises that was not created by the owner, if the condition . . . existed for a sufficient length of time and under such circumstances that the owner should have discovered it in the exercise of ordinary care.

While this instruction might need to be modified on remand in light of the new *Johnson* reasonable-foreseeability instruction, the parties will no doubt propose additional instructions that properly set forth the relevant law on this issue under *Johnson* and *Moore*. And since this issue was never raised before, it is so unripe as to pucker the mind.

Similarly, WPIC 120.07, the court's instruction, and an instruction based on *Moore*, all did or will include that Fred Meyer need only exercise ordinary care:

An owner of premises is liable for any physical injuries to its customers caused by a condition on the premises if:

. . .

(c) the owner fails to exercise ordinary care to protect them against the danger; . . .

CP 155 (Estate's Proposed Inst. 6 (emphasis added)); see also CP 286 (Fred Meyer's Proposed Inst. 16); CP 728 (Court's Inst. 14, BA App. A). What constitutes ordinary care will likely again be the subject of proposed instructions on remand. But that issue has yet to be raised in the trial court, so it is not properly before this Court.

In short, trial judges are in the best position to decide in the first instance what their jury instructions should say. This Court does not issue advisory opinions on rulings the trial court may or may not be called upon to make. And taking up new fact-based arguments on appeal is unwise, as **Dalton M** correctly holds.

This Court should deny review.

B. There is no substantial public interest in an appellate decision that simply follows this Court's most recent controlling authority to hold that an outdated Pattern Instruction misstates the law, where that WPIC has not yet been conformed to controlling precedent, and where this Court can (and likely will) amend the Pattern Instruction in due course.

Fred Meyer also relies on RAP 13.4(b)(4), issues of substantial public interest that this Court should determine. PFR 17-24. But an appellate decision that simply follows this Court's most recent precedent holds no substantial public interest. And because this Court need not decide the same issue twice, this is not an issue it *should* decide.

Moreover, this Court can and no doubt will conform the WPIC through the usual processes of its Pattern Instruction Committee. Indeed, after *Moore* came down, the Chair of the WPIC Subcommittee for Part X – Owners and Occupiers of Land (the Honorable Helen Halpert, ret.) sent an email to all counsel inquiring whether anyone would move to publish *Moore*. See App. B (5/10/2023)

Email from Chair Halpert). If not, then the Chair herself would so move because, while her committee does not cite unpublished decisions, its *Johnson* update is pending, and "a citation to *Moore* will strengthen our Comment." *Id*.

Thus, a fix is in the works. Accepting review here may slow that process. The People of Washington, their counsel, and our Superior Court judges need pattern instructions on which they can rely. *Moore* fixes the problem, but even if this Court is not fully satisfied with that fix – contrary to what its Pattern Instruction Committee seems to believe – simply approving a proper correction is the most efficient and effective way to clarify the law. Granting a Petition for Review based on a non-conflict and an unpreserved issue is unlikely to help the situation. This Court should deny review.

1. The *Moore* court did not "misread" *Johnson*.

Fred Meyer argues that the *Moore* court "misread *Johnson*." PFR 18-20. As discussed *supra*, it did not. It extensively *quoted Johnson*. And as also discussed *supra*, Fred Meyer "misreads" both *Johnson* and *Moore*.

2. This Court should not reach Fred Meyer's second unpreserved issue that would merely confirm what the appellate court and this Court have already held.

Fred Meyer raises a *second* unpreserved issue, this one seeking review without any legal basis. PFR 20-24. As Fred Meyer acknowledges, *Moore* holds that there "must be a connection between the unsafe condition and the business's method of operation – the unsafe condition may not be merely incidental to the business's method of operation." PFR 21 (*quoting Moore* at 9). Since – as Fred Meyer concedes – *Moore* properly so held, this Court need not grant review: RAP 13.4(b) does not permit review "to

confirm" what the Court of Appeals – and this Court – have already held. See PFR 24.

But more importantly, this is yet another new issue yet to be litigated in the trial court. If such an issue arises on remand, the parties can brief and argue it. The Estate can thus have a *fair* opportunity to address the law and facts relevant to this newly raised issue. And the trial judge properly can determine what the Court's Instructions should say under the relevant facts of this case. Trial judges are undoubtedly in the best position to do this.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.

The undersigned hereby certifies under RAP 18.17(2)(b) that this document contains **3,094** words.